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FORT GEORGE G. MEADE, MARYLAND 20755-6000
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This responds to your request of 25 June 2022 to have Oral History of [redacted)],
NS4 OH 2007-31, reviewed for declassification. The material has been reviewed under
the Mandatory Declassification Review (MDR) requirements of Executive Order (E.O.)
13526 and is enclosed. We have determined that some of the information in the material
requires protection.

Some portions deleted from the document were found to be currently and properly
classified in accordance with E.O. 13526. The information denied meets the criteria for
classification as set forth in Section 1.4 subparagraphs (b) and (c) and remains classified
TOP SECRET as provided in Section 1.2 of E.O. 13526.

Section 3.5 (¢) of E.O. 13526, allows for the protection afforded to information
under the provisions of law. Therefore, the names of NSA/CSS employees and
information that would reveal NSA/CSS functions and activities have been protected in
accordance with Section 6, Public Law 86-36 (50 U.S. Code 3605, formerly 50 U.S.
Code 402 note).

Please be advised that the responsive document includes another government

agency’s information. We have protected its equities with the other government agency
(OGA) redaction code.

Since your request for declassification has been denied you are hereby advised of
this Agency’s appeal procedures. Any person denied access to information may file an
appeal to the NSA/CSS MDR Appeal Authority. The appeal must be postmarked no
later than 60 calendar days after the date of the denial letter. The appeal shall be in
writing addressed to the NSA/CSS MDR Appeal Authority (P133), National Security
Agency, 9800 Savage Road, STE 6881, Fort George G. Meade, MD 20755-6881. The
appeal shall reference the initial denial of access and shall contain, in sufficient detail and
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particularity, the grounds upon which the requester believes the release of information is
required. The NSA/CSS MDR Appeal Authority will endeavor to respond to the appeal
within 60 working days after receipt of the appeal.

Sincerely,
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Jacqueline M. Amacher
Chief
Declassification Services
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OHNR: OH-2007-31___..-—-"'_'_'_‘._.-:'DC')'I-: 09November2007
TRSID: | |- DTR:-20 November:2007
QcsID: [17Deco7 sptek . Text Review: i ¢
INAME: l[ Text wiTape: ;;;E§ ._ |
IPLACE: | [office, NSA, OPS2B; Ft. Meade, MO

IVIEWER: MURDOCK, LindaL.; BERNARD, Richard ‘
[Tape 1, Side 1] sl

Murdock: The classification of this unterwew will be TOP SECRET COMINTY//TK
unless otherwise specified at the end of the recording. - Today is Friday 09
November 2007. We are interviewing . his i
office in OPS2B of the Mationa Securit™ = T < currentl
assi ned click as the Do

Defense Special issiles and Aerospace Center, DEFSMAC
joined the National Secunty Agcency in 1976 and has 'held a variety of
operational and leadership positions in Intelligence Produénon Foreign
B Relatuons Policy, and Support at NSA Headguarters, the United Kingdom,
] Prior to joining NSA, inhsted in the U.S.
Ir Fo:ce and served as a linguist in Turkey and Germany.; | am Linda
Murgock from the Center for Cryptologic History. With me.is Richard
(Dick) Bernard, the DEFSMAC histornian. The nma urpose of today'’s
jnterview is to discuss the many contributions rovidedto
-"DEFSMAC while he was _ nwe begin by you -
please telling us a little bif @’ ou” yourse™, your ' ackground, your
education, and how it is you ceme to the National Security: Agency.

O ay. thank you ((Rustle )) I, uh, studied Russian, at, uh, [ ]
College, graduated from there in 1971 and it was almost quite by accident
that | ended up studying Russian but it came on the recommendation of |
my uncle who was attending Defense Language Institute for the Air Force
at the time and, uh, he was studying Russian ((rustle)) and recommende:d
that | consider ((snap)) that if it was an option at my school. | didn't know
if it was an option. | checked the curriculum and, lo and behold, it was ah
option, so | erased “Spanish” as my elective language and wrote down
“Russian,” and was very fascinated with the subject from day one and
ended up majoring in it, uh, ah within a. within a few semesters

((Click )) Ah, back in 1971, ah, we still had a military draft and | was, uh,.
considering several options, um, ah, particularly with the Army, uh, and
then the Air Force and ended up enlisting in the Air Force, ah, with the
hope of, uh, getting to use my Russian as a Russian linguist ((smack))
and, uh, was awfully excited Uh, | was told that | would probably go to
Monterey for at least part of the full course, uh, because | perhaps was not
exposed to enough military vocabulary, uh, during my, ah, four years at .
University. ((Rustle.)) Unfortunately | scored too high on the exam | was{
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given in basic training and instead of going to Monterey, California, | went
directly to Goodfellow Air Force Base, and, uh, | saw that was nowhere
close to Monterey on the map But, uh, after completing tech school
(GoodFellow AFB, Texas)there, the Air Force sent me to, ah, a remote
part of the globe in Sinop, Turkey as a Russian linguist. ((Smack)) And
while not the ideal location for a single airman, ah, a few friends and |, uh,
maximized the assignment to the hilt. It was, uh, certainly interesting from
the mission standpoint Ah, but every opportunity we had to take some
Maryland courses or do some ‘raveling dunng breaks, ah, we got out and
saw quite a bit of the...the coutryside. | had the good fortune to go from
Sinop to Augsburg, Germany, um, where ((click; rustle)) the mission
wasn't quite as exciting but indeed it was Bavaria and | got to practice my
high-school and ..and my college German that, uh, that | had also taken
((Rustle; click )) After that | went to grad school at[ ]
University, ((rustle)) and, uh, completed a masters in Polmcal Science.
And it was while | was at[ lhat uh, ((click)) @ retired Air
Force sergeant, um, came into my office and befriended mé and.. and we
talked about career possibilities for the two of us. And, uh, he
recommended that | investigate the possibility of working a NSA And |
hadn't seriously contemplated t, but, uh, | was about to get married and,
uh, | thought, “Gee, | may have to have a careér one of these days," and,
uh, sent off a few, uh, inquiries and, ah, was scheduled for a battery of
exams and...and employment interviews. And, I and behold, ah, got
picked up to start, ah, work here as a Russian lmgulst in Jariuary of 1976
Um, I joined NSA fully believing my inflated, um, Aik Force evals about
being this, you know, wonderful, first-term linguist a 'd | very, quickly was

given a dose of reality. |...| farly sped through the training téam but | was
put into a very difficult, uh, civikan, ah, transcription shop thai_t was, uh, ah,
[ oviet communications and, uh, it was a huge

. challenge Um, T humbled me very quickly that perhaps:| was not the

. walk-on-water linguist that, uh, that | thought that | was. (TR NOTE.

* There is frequent and continuous movement noise and rustlmg throughout.
. While | will try to annotate it as it happens there will be placis where | am

. unable to note each one individually.)) ]

Murdock: : Do you remember the NSA designation for that office?

-------
---------

PL 86-36/50 USC 3605]

I ' Yes, itwas[_  JAnd, uh, forunately | had a team chvef I ]whb
: was, ah, patient with me and.. .and everyone else and helped us grow to.

. the maximum extent possible and, uh, |, at least | belueved reached, uh, a

' fairly decent level Um, then ir | want to sa it was’late 1977, | saw a call

EO 1.4. (c) . .

PL 86-36/50 Usc 3605 TOF volunteers for a shift opera onin .ah, for Russian
hnguists and | believe | was the first Founteer or T at because | was
excited at the prospect[ - ]And uh, that
started, | believe, in Febryary ‘of 78,

Bernard: Was that[ [at the remote site here at the Fort or was that at

the ground station?

TIOPR SECRETUCOMINTITKI20294423 Page 2

NSA Center for Cryptologic History Oral History Program OH-200731-|

Declassified and Approved for Release by NSA on 06-12-2025 pursuant to E.O. 13526, MDR Case #114604



EO 1.4. (b)

FOR SECRETHCOMINEITKH20234423 PL 86-36/50 USC 3605

Yes, um, here first from 1978 until 1981 and then 4 rom 1981
to 1984. And tt was really a fantastic assignmenton o cefi s. Um, the
varety of theDthat uh, ‘we were processing and the Orgdmzauons and

g; ééfééjéo usc 3605 0 beyourbest. ((Rustle. Anc it was Ilke bemg paid taput crossword

L . 1 Ruzzles together-i K(smack)) and, uh,.you know, a few of us
felt that we did, uh, | pre y air jobs of that. ((Smack ) Um [
was an absolutely fabulous assignment. Agaun | ‘vas thetq as a, initially
as a ((Ms Murdock coughs)) linguist my first year and then became team
chief, um, for my second and third years. Afd, ‘uh, | wen] from there to
NSOC. | had actually been pizked up for.an analyst job:in Denver but
then director, ah, General Faurer had ingiituted a policy | that, uh, you got
one field assignment; uh, you could not' extend; and yoy had to come back
to the mother ship. ((Smack )) And me yh, ah, Ieadershlp in Denver
indicated they were prepared to fight for. my .my gomg out there but |
discovered some openings in NSGC and }¥d always wantéd to work in
NSOC, so | thought, “Well, I'm not going .to rock the boat: Here's an
. opportunity to, uh, get back to. Ma ‘and,” which was close to my, uh, my
[PL 86-36/50 USC 3605] mother and brothers’ homes,up in - . So.uh, ((smack)) | came
o '15éeE 0t6 NSOGand 'té'ok't'h'e' -ah . Product Control Officer desk and we
Qvolved that into the[ "'}:Ie;k wtiich was the| 7
. And, uh’ iP volved that way because we saw opportunities
‘o taEe more off-the plates of, the[ Jwho was there and my particular
ere happy fo share addmonal ah, workload wuth with us, so we
helped emlve that; ((Cluck )) It ‘as while | was In NSOC that | discovered
i we were domg these things ca-red third-party relationships. Cerainly in
{ Britain ((telephohe)) | wéds famlllar wit -the seoond-party relationships but,
uh, this was, & sa‘w a list of vacancy ads and the one that caught my eye
iwas [ ]'And { telephone))l thought, uh, Wow, that would be
 fabulous going to | ddn't se€ an...an actual-vacancy
iannouncement, by .did s2e one for and ((chck)) we had a
'gperson who had }US( r‘etumed from there an dn't believe there was one
yob that had so much respons:blllty toit In essence y u were doing U
Jrork, you were doing] = ou were doing rorkyou
were your own personnel, your own sécurity, your own fogistics, uh,
envuronmem ((Click.)) And the gemleman said, “Not only do you do that
but you actually do a whole lot more.” "§o after reassuring my wife we had
no changeé whatsoever of being picked for this job, she said, “Go ahead
and apply for it" And a few months Jater we're on the plane heading out to
[" IUm it was supposed to be a two-liaus‘on-offlcer operation with, uh,
one admin support staff. Ah, ittumed out to be ]usx a one-liaison-officer,
uh, operation after the other felow curtalled and it was an incredibly busy
first year and a half Um, a lot of sixty, seventy- -hour work weeks; a lot of
TDYs because the partnership with the [ = }/vas really starting to
burgeon, and every TDYer who came out from
orI }vho needed to do some in-country travel, ah, I usually
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Murdock:

[

PL 86-36/50 USC 3605]

EO 1.4. (c)
PL 86-36/50 USC 3605
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accompanied them. So it gave me great insight into the uh, the Agency'’s
missions-in-those areas-as wel as insight into the { pperations

of Rolicy. | was invited by the former, ah, Chief, [ Yo join his team in
the Office of Policy And | went in as the Deputy Division Chief of
whichwas the Information Policy Division And, its responsibiltiés were,
ah, classification We were the...the Agency, ah, gycu for classification,
ah, Public and Media Affairs; um, working with-atademia; ah, working
FOIA and'Privacy Act issues, as well as’unauthorized disclosures. So |

went \ .- -In'tb an element that actually dealt fairly
openly in the'unclassifiéd realm ((rustle)) and | can remember another
former Chigef; telling me that, uh, | would be exposed to things that

.the Agéncy was involved with that, uh, | hadn't a clue that, uh, we were

‘doing that and he was...he was correct. ((Click.)) So, uh, | was there until
1992 when | transferre<1 And it was

“almost quite by acéident againthat. uh, T ended up with That assignment

There was an issue that, uh, we didn't believe that the cover office was
handling, uh, adequately and we called the chief and he was working with
us to.".to correct the situation. And when | called over for a status report, |
ended up speaking to his boss because he was out for the day. And |
queried who would be replacing ((thump)) the .the fellow who was
running cover because was about to retire and | was asked if | was
interested in the job. ((Rustle.): It was like a bolt out of the blue And, uh, |
went over and interviewed, ah, with the, ah, with the chief And uh, he
offered me the ob."-And | thou ht, “Wow, oin from

éx1 g n I w . T

some folks who were conterit with the cover programs running as they
were. And when asked why w2 did things certain ways, it was often met
with a, “Well, that's just the way we've always done it And, you know, |
at least believe a lot of the movies that | watched about folks in cover
situations actually being in potential life-and-death situations. And
fortunately for us, and. .and | can't take any credit for it because it ((snap))
happened a month before my arrival in cover, we had hired somebody
who had done HUMINT for the Army for most of his 20-year career. He
understood what legitimate cover requirements really entailled and was
equally shocked at the status of some of our progtams. So | empowered
him to be our bull in a china shop and break those covers that clearly had
outlived their usefulness or, o° could even perhaps, ‘al}, jeopardize some
of our travelers. And, uh, he dd that and stood up, uh, ah, several more
replacement covers and, uh, a1, we were moving, ah, full speed ahead
when | was, ah, selected for the Senior Cryptologic Executive
Development program. And the way the program worked was.you were

TOR SECRETUCOMINTITKS20284423 Page
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supposed to spend perhaps a year, perhaps half a year in various
developmental assignments to fill some of the gaps that, uh, that you
experienced or that. that you had not yet expenenced in your career _So,
it was with some misgiving tha: | felt | had to leave, ah,
ob. | was there for about a year and a half before moving into

This place Called DEFSMAC|[ 0 a fellow
who, uh, became a very dear T"iend of mine, ah, Jm Kiine, who'was the.
Chief of Operatiohs. And unfotunately for me it was only a six-month
assignment. And | drank from the proverbial fire hose, uh, lots to'leam u)
such a highly technical envnronment But, uh, by the time the six months
were over, you really came .away with an appreciation for the
Herculean . Herculean things {hat. uh, people on both the watch and in
the Intelligence Division, ah, ware.doing on a.. on a daily basis. Uh,:and, *
((Ms Murdock coughs)) uh, again for, me personally, ((rustle)) the highlight'.‘
was, uh, befriending, ah, Jim Kline, wha, ah...who was an institution, ah,
himself in in the organization. | went from there to perhaps my least",
favorite—well not perhaps—to definitely my least favorite job and that was
in the old, ah, DDO budget office. And fortunatgly it, too, was only a six-
month assignment. So with a finite nd., | figured I'could ..I could do that".
and survive it and learn enough about, ah, the budgetprocess to be R
dangerous. | was anticipating graduating from the SCEDP, um, within the ', '
next year So l.got on the calendar of a person who had becpme my ‘
informal mentor, and | reminded him that the old DDS, the Support
Directorate, um, because it owned my billet, it probably had the -,
responsibilty to find me a job in Support once | graduated from the .
program. He indicated that, uh, there were very few senior positions

9 available, ah, eh, expected at that time. And he asked me if | wanted to

Z ooverseas. | perked up because we had very much enjoyed[ ]

'\ :ﬂob opening in.. open in, ah I Iand a similar one at] ]
J——1and | leaned forward and called a time-out and asked him, “Don't you

"" have to sort of know something about 0 take these jobs?” He
pretended to be offended and, uh, he said, “Well, do€sri't & good teader --- - - - - -
rely on the technical expertise of his subordinate leaders and the work
force? And | used a line that| had used with him and .and once before
with then Captain, ah [ tas “Well, I've never been
accused of micro- managnng Decause you have-to-have.a clue before you

can micro-manage.” ((Bernarc chuckles.)) And uh, so, he said, ah, “We' . ;. <>,
would arrange for your final SCEDP assignmentto-be-in the od..--- : ’

I went in as Deputy Office Chief of thnch was ..--"- :

And to this day, if you look at my houss.-you will $66 =3 “ave never
mastered But, uh, again, it's really drawing on the
strengths of people who really, really know the business and getting the

heck out of their way, which was, ah, again, a chat | had had earlier, a few

years earler with Admiral, now Admiral or Mister McConnell, who said,
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((smack)) 1 Identify who the good people are and then | get out of
their way.” And, ah, um, | realzed then that that was the philosophy that I,
too, was, uh, ah, trying my best to, ah, to do. Um, | did the [ Job for X

number 6f months, | really cant remember the.. specifically when | went in

there. Butthenin h, 1995, a1, we ‘eft for! . nd | went
out there as th Ah, itwas a neat job besides being in relative
paradise at th "7 ad the neatest job on
base because: ith our largely

h, as the .- Much of, uh, my

.responsi Iyies c'acks)) Iay, putside of e operations compound,
/ although, of course, we did-have, uti, responsibilities therein  But, uh, it
was just‘a wonderful opportunily: and, uh; ((click)) not just for me
* professionally, but, ali-bur children really, really flourished there. Ah, our
. oldest took a year. aff of school and, uh, lived at home with us

;. _and'. and worked on base and every spare moment or every lfee moment
N P . - :

;»’our ggugnter Rourished academically and, um, T was such a small Figh
/4 scHopl Uh) there were, on-avera e ma be ten or eleven or twelve kids
Jo ¢ udhcin-each graduating class. ,
S A ukedid oxte el well émcall an ", uh, going up
gt ol ounger boys,
wf - .a . ay Ice oC eyo  sewr )
Jes2-77- - was rarely used and - ah; it was tota” absorption in a game they both Toved

—

thern, -all. -all fouc kids really believed that as home
We endedu s ndin here, the'as’ — 00 w-ic" | was the
ere ad been some, shall we say leadership

“ssues in the . ersonnel Department and the J2 Security Department,

'f:f: """" and{-was-asked{o-head.up So they merged the J1, the J2

......... -

, And, uh, while it
was arewar(ing Ci  pro essiona experience y earning other pieces
of the business, anything that anybody could complain about on base
became part of my portfolio|

PL 86-36/50 USC 3605

. . __] It was really difficult being there with
so much chatter, increasingly loud chatter, about the pros cts of

uh, um, helped perpetuate its " its. ongewvity there {( lick; smack ) ut,
again knowing that much of my workferge would have to, in the near-to-
medium term, face, um, ((movement and ¢tacks)) unemployment, it It
was really, uh, difficult for me, sersonally, ((scrape)) but, uh, we came up
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with some programs And agan | can’t take credit for them ((rustle)) but
it...it was subordinates who used some real clever, out-of-the-box thinking.
Um, for instance, in the case of our engineering shop, while dollars were
diminishing ((click)) in the pay accounts we still needed to do some new
CEO 1.4. (b) “projects because the Army kept moving additional people onto the base
PL 86-36/50 USC 3605 e€ven though it was, uh, targeted for ((Murdock coughs)) closure Sowe
s enabled the engineering workforce to complete these piojects instead of
'bnngmg in contracted workforce So they could do it for about ((rustle))
:maybe one third the cost while sharpening their skills, so that come
runemployment, two or three or however many years down the road, their
iskils ‘would be fresher than they perhaps may have been, ah, two or
:;'three *{(rustle)) two or three years earlier. Um, ((smack)) | applied for the
E:onty sernor job that | had ever really coveted, ((scrape)) uh, the Chief,
ob-from| After you've PCSed ((background voices,
»scrape: thumpsT) 10 S3ME BT these locations, um, you do try to keep your
E:ear close t,o thé.ground and. .and hear what's happening and hope that
;thmgs ara uh,continuing to move in the direction that...that you had
:-hopeet Um, and ‘what | was hearing was that that was not the situation in
["IR é.had s’ ntsome very well-intentioned folks out there, but, ah,
s who had really zero operational experience. And ((loud thump)) had
“ :not really take&n advantag_e of some ((thump)) additional partnering
opportunmes with the " ho had an interest in many of the same
targets we had.. had conT?GT\ge raphy that we did not or no longer

:cah'rb'metnberaws.tt out t ' “h,b , uh, then Deputy Dlrector
:Mr. Black,-and then, uh, r.
‘Grantham ', And, uh, Mr. 7 10 iV thatthe
:director would be s€lecting somebody who was already a senior
.executive | was disappointed to hear'that news because | felt that we had
Eperhaps not sent the right people out there previously. And while | may
'not have been a senior'executive, | knew[ ]I had, ah, worked the
relationship personally, uh, very intensely for three years. Um, so | went
fhome and told.the kids that ((scrape; voices)) “Hey, it doesn't look like

PL 86-36/50 USC 3605

‘~.fvnsﬂ *|l.got a call from the base: commander at nd he said,
X just read a message.that names you as fhe new Chief of
, uh; ((snap)) while the kids were perhaps disappointed to hear
al, within days of our arrwval in| hey admitted to each other, but

never tome or my wufe “that. ((background voices)) “Hey, this is a pretty
cool place, t0oo.” Um...

. Bernard: Um, did you get your promotion cotthrrept with your transfer?

| actually got my promotion just prior to m)} i nsfer, and | was even asked
by Mr. Black if | felt it needed to be earlier, because there was concem
that we might not retain the house that | believe NSA Kad. paid for on

IOR SECRETUCOMINTIK/20294423 Page 7 .
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it was referred to. And | said, “Mr. Black, ((voices)) I'a1 just thrilled to be
getting the promotion, please don't rock the boat ((rustle s\eps)) by
making it any earlier than it rezlly needs to be.” (,('Rustle ))’Sc; ah, | believée
it was in June of 2001 when {was, uh, when | was elevated. Um ((cllck))
my observations at[ I~ere there was 3-lot of backbmng .going on
We had attracted folks who pehaps applied for Eurgpean asé;gnments
((chck)) but weren't picked up for those .- And they became nomads
((scrape)) going from field site to field sne and really didn’t hdye a whole
lot of, uh, basis of reality, ah, dealing with the chahge that was going on
back here at headquarters. And, éh, there was some,, agam some real
hostility and nastiness going oy, yéah person-to- person and ¢hat was
actually affecting ((rustle; acknawledgment)) how they.: .how they were
doing their jobs Um, | was'asked . was actually invited to TOY to[ :
shortly after | arrived ((rustle)) and | actually heard about that from my, uh;:
from the deputy | would be geting at |: hile | was stillini |, ] ) N
said, “Well that's not-the’ message | want to send out first. | don t want to :
be focused externally:” | want to be focused internz‘a‘lly‘, ah, to [ ]Sov 5
how about a couple of weeks after I'm there, how about if my first TDY is:
up tocl " 4'said, “I want to make it clear ((cusxle)) because l've
heard some cnhcusms that previous senior visits up there were only wheri
there were vigiting TDYers from NSA headquarters and then our
sen...our previous senior would hold their hands ta go to ¢

[ ]I said, 1 don't want 1o go up.. | .| want o go up There on m
own and | want to meet with the NSAers | want to meet with the '
commander and any other MILPERS that, uh, would like to chat." Well, : .
unfortunately—at the time | thought unfonunately-'um }vho was.
the field advocate at the ime (ismack)) had schedule aTDOYio[

that the dates coincikded with mine And | thougm ‘Well that's going to
look like I'm here holding his hand as my very hist TDY out of the barrel..
So | was. .| was disappointed. But, um, mtefrestmgly, durin a courtesy .
call with the then, ah,

ah, . Ve
sai , Ou now,we aven rastryc ure pro ems ere. e ave missnon
guidance problems here. We'veta enon'a lat of national missions with :
-no; additional bump up in perscnnel We have HR issues. We have, you
kniow, fill-in-the-blank i " He said, And whether you guys come out
here TDY, looking at Or whether. we go back to NSA, we get the :
north-south head nods, you...you undefstand our plight, you feel our pau
But nobody evey; fesponds to that or nqbody ever responds to our formal,
or our mforma1 ‘e-mails  And I'm sitting there wondering | mean [ ]

‘.
l
l
l

P N S N R s

.=
.-

thkmgwhere in the heck has _ erin this.” While, 1t was my clear
‘understandmg that we didnt-own here were we with respect
;wustle)) ta understandlng their issues  click)) and becoming their

‘advocate. ((Click.)) ((Smack.)) So. when | got back to ((lhump))[
[PL 86-36/50 USC 36OSI
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a. .| checked with my deputy because | vaguely remembered heanng that
we had some jobs that had gone unfilled for a long time because we
couldn’t recruit anybody out there. And he confirmed that we had five or
six empty billets And | said, “Well, let's move five of them up to

86-36/50 usc 3605 | And he looked at me incredulously, You mean give billets away T said,

Well, first of all they’re not ours, they re the corperafion's billets Secondly,
ahI ]'nade a corrpelling- endugh case about this much extra
Lfhission being taken on-with fic additional, ah, people.” | said, "And,
mey re not doing Us a dam bit of good sitting here empty for these years."

.- Sowe ‘moved, uh, the...it ended up being four or five. Uh, there was a call

EO
PL

EO
PL

1.4.(b) for billets after 9/11 that interfered with our movement of those, but
86-36/50 USC 3605 eveptually we got to move a couple more up there. ((Rustle continues ))

1.4.(c)
86-36/50 USC 3605

.exampes‘asius! on a-:- 2% aln awe weoun e
orgamzahon in it was that folks who wese not only passive, but even
resnstant ‘1o, to wanting to do whatl behéved we were all sent out there
for And my initial take was, if we Gan.t tum thls Titanic around, | would
:send a nofe back to DIRNSA after two'or three'months and sa , “Leave
‘the cadre dowmown that does the daily interface

dispérse-the technical work force = °. ' nd
pull the plugi‘ on ((heavy breath)) ecquse:! srea y...1 asn been
doing anythihg magk )) We probably took it too much in the other
direction Art one of ourmost roductive employees in the operations

division at ono*,b point said, e've done more in the last six months
than we had the rev-ous'WeyWs' that | have been here.” Um, ((smack))
after 9/11 and - Il for billets, um, ((smack)) we decided to
pull the plug on nd return the billets for ( acknowledgment))

the Global War “"T2==***={ind.)) And again, uh, ah, | was told that our
CSG was vulnerable before | went out there because it was not supporting
a, uh, ah, a MACOM It was supporting a sub unified command and the
command it was supporting was not a war fighter, it was a pollcy and
liaison kind of staff. But, uh, when Again, when the appeal came out for
billets it was our decision to close the CSG We sent a formal message

I0R SECRETUCOMINTITKI20204423 Page 9
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]
back to NSA saying, “Propose to pull the plug on axx }\ June of
2002. We want to kee a handful of the billets so that we ‘€an $till satisfy

not jus _nd some of the " gh, miltary units
requirements from ~3ut we could do that, we; feR’ ona Monday
through Friday and an emergency call-in basis bécause e\rerytaody lived
within/five or ten.minutes of Um, mtereStungly um* we dtdnt geta

response from headquarte.rs And here we were oﬂemg, blllets back for
the giobal war.,and, uh, weé had no response So.l kebt pulsmg ‘the status "
and finally | asked our chief of operations‘who hatf ghls ‘action ! l said, .
Well, did anybody say No?” And he said, “Nobqdy: sand anythmg | said, &
“Well, if they didn't say no, thus is the, dae we’ told iherp wve're pulllng the .
plug Here are the’ points of ccntagt’ for uh, the organlzatlons lo whom
we're retdrning résponsibility for the billets. - "And thaf s what we did
And uh'ah $mack a ain ‘knew it was: me ng‘m thing to 00 Ah,
ertainl $u ' {tedo'r...our, u'h domg
ra., egsocrea e . .+ hile we vyé.re out '
mere um,((thump)) that actually. Ut e . .Theteam—it used: lo be called :
the, Teohmcal Support Division--it was already domg theater support in the .
;software and the hargware and the’ IT arenas But with a name like '
: Technical Support Division it was, ‘geltmg zéro VIS‘lblllly for, uh: ts its
. work And with zefo visibility comes 2ero, dollars and zero addmonal
;',;people despite there being a weajth of reQuurements out there that had -
» gone unsatisfied. So, with the re-of _ﬁat we'did in October of 2001 where:
Z. () * we made anything that lookéd like Customer Relatubns and =
86-36/50 USC 3605, Analysis apd Production, we put.that wnhm oyr operations dlvn§ggn and
v..anythin {(click)) that Iooked like we callet! hat the
' That caught ‘ ttention and she tasked’ us'i_ 0 put
Qe era a ertoi enti eresources we would need to mm-or the
Sowe did that A long story shert " it really
e rarda. a budget request for one of the out
yearsas ifthe "-.  ad been ((click)) fully;authorized, which We ‘knew it
had:-been blessed ((elrck rustle)) at the highest level but none ot the
budgeteéss (sic) hag’ matched the...the previous blessing wnth ahy real ..
dollars. It really helped when[ ﬁ)ecame the Deputy Director, SID: .
When he was, the question abdut this new organization called the[
nd its new requnsement for additional dollats he said, "l

[suppoﬁ'ﬂ. wﬁoﬁy hm | was aware of its, creation from I . !ah,
mm

B S P,

perch and t's praviding a lot of value out'in the theate a’m to be
resourced ropria ily_' So, you know, we stQod up the . [We pulled
the plug oniQE We, ah, significantly expanded the -

relationship. .the m relatonship with the, um., ; ] ;
partners. Ah, actually w startzd to weave in a hea |e?[ 1
partnership involving the, . NdNSA  Um, drew

ourselves much closertot~e "1 0 taionw O was a...an absolutely
fabulous, ah, partner to work with. Um, we gave her insight into
everything we had going on. ({Click )) And she helped by, uh, providing
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some background on some of :he people and organizations we were
dealing with. So, it was really a terrific place to work. Um, ((smack)) and,
uh, | probably could have stayed a fifth year, but after four years it was
pretty much of a sprint, and, ubh, interestingly | came back for a mini-field
chiefs’ conference that General Hayden, ah, had laid in place and | met
with the Director of E xecutive P about my next assignment, uh, for
the summer of '05 and he said t's still a little too early to know.
Um, | still have to fill some of the field vacancies and then,” you know,

'e’'ll see what opens up back here.” So, “"Okay, |...| understand how that
works.” Well, same day, just a few hours later | had lunch with a friend of
mine, my friend Jim Kline, and as we're heading into the cafeteria,

((rust e)) we had just decided what side of the cafeteria we would link up
with, he said, uh, he asked the question, “Did they tell you your next
assignment?” | said that they don't know my next assignment. And he
looked me curiously. He said, | know your next assignment. “How do
you know my next assignment?” And he said, | know your next
assignment.” | said,.“Well, please hurry through the line so | can hear,
((Bemard laughs)) you know, ry fate there.” And, _h, we satdownand
he looked over at me and he said, "You're going to
DEFSMAC." And | almost did cartwheels, ((click)) ah, in the cafeteria. |

. would have hurt’ myself and would have been a‘spectacle, a poor

spectacle: -‘But;,.uh, | could not have |mag|ned a better job to, ah, come
back into. And, uh, fortuhatelyl ot to use uh ah someofm home
leave that | had accrued, but, uh, ’

LDEFSMAC Um interestingly he ..the ave a
term for sgpme of the revered g7alys s that the have wor ou know in
their...in their SIGINT arena: They call them
'And it became readulx aggarent that DEFSM’J had six or seven people in
that] ] um, 1didn't drink. didn't bang a whole lot
rof techmcal SIGINT background into the job, uh, but | felt that | was pretty
:decent at...at helpmg all the maving parts to operate much more
feffectwely 8o, agamn. -with.. with Admiral McConnell's guidance in mind,
;again it was, you know, stay out of the heavy lifters’ way And that was

:WOrkm'g ( rustle thum real fne at the anal st-to-anal st level watching,
'I,agam the nd
(- m e

IPL 86-36/50 USC 3605 ]:.....-..............,(Rustle.»Ah,.the{ ---------- Ah, the {

. _Tac ing ese people gettogether and X and O the next upcoming

significant missile or space event was one of the most awesome things |
observedin.my entire career. That these folks were very dedicated. They
were very passiona e about what they did. Um, not once did | hear a self-
serving comment by any of those folks when they were. .. ((click)) when
they were so strategizing. VWhat wasn't working so well was there was
tremendous animosity amongst the senior leaders in the organization

And my early observation was my repeated observation that it was largely
some of the more senior NSA€rs were not tréa‘t‘mg_tpe more senior DIAers
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Murdock: . Do you mind naming the deputy?

| < Um, | would prefer not at._.at this  int but obviousl folks can do the
E— - homework if the need to.

very exasperated that many of these issues had not been addressed and
they were just allowed to fester and | believe the analysts probably saw

[ OGA ] some amusement in it" -K. did not directl affect their day-to-day
strategizing on the next, uh ""-._ unch or the next, you know, fill-*
in-the-blank launch. But,.u ,itwas fot e ot where, durin his

inpacea or three weeks. o gathered as-muc
feedback as | could from he parties themselves. We sat down and | told . .
them how | expected much mare civil deliberations and .and much more
-‘a kinder, gentler environment. And it still wasn't working. And | was also,
um aware that in our operations arena, we were not as strong as we were
when | had been there in the...in...in the 1993 timeframe. We had one or
two really solid ((rustle)) mission directors but, over the years, we had lost
', a lot to retirement and the military personnel that were now in our watch
. center, while most of them were eager and energetic and brought some,
+ you know, technical skills that, uh, ah, some of us older folks perhaps, uh,
'still don't have um the were eall reall short on ex erience and the

EO 1.4. (c)
PL 86-36/50 USC 3605

ow 1ewewere
traditionally drawing from the | INT well to populate the Ops Center, |
realized that we really needed more of an all-source flavor rather than
drawing from a traditional SIGINT world. Obviously, the service members
were more junior in grade because ((rustie)) many of them were being
deployed to Iraq and Afghanistan So DEFSMAC was not the only
organization that had fairly junior MILPERS. ((Rustle )) So we built a
campaign ((thumps; click)) to, ah, uh, put a memo together to push it down
to General Maples, the Directoer of DIA, asking for additional people for our
watch, an, more of an all-source flavor. That memo is still being
deliberated. It's actually held hostage to another study regarding the ideal
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location for DEFSMAC, which s being done by[ }Nho just
recently ((scrape)) relocated to, ah, to Denver, to NSA Tolorado. We
made a similar appeal to NGA even though they're not a charter member
of DEFSMAC. It's, uh, DIA and NSA who are the two charter members
We figured that was working himself, uh, very.long hours,
twelve, fourteen hours Tor. -every significant event. He w0uld be in
weekends, holidays. ((Rustle ') We thought, “Wow! What a win-win
opportumty to bring junior persannel up onto the watch (xcluck rustle)) and
{ould serve as the mentor ((scrape)) because he was already acting
In that.capacity at least once a week, driving down to NGA or
((thumpS)) . or would serve as\mentor Um, NGA told us they would like
to support.us and even put us nas a .OA.. .over guidarice for five
additional NGAers, but | don't believe there's any much prospect of that
happening But they said perhaps after they ceased thetr supporting
surge operatlons perhaps ((rustle)) they might be able td, ah, ((scrape))
um, give us the five NGA imagery apalysts, uh, for each of our watch
teams. Unfortunately, we had to collapse from five watch teams to four
because we were lacking some expertise to continue ((rustle)) a fifth team.
But while we were hating five teams, uh, one team would always be on
two weeks of straight days so they could take formal tramlng they could
. take trips to some of our collaborators and partner and peer organizations

EO 1.4.(c) in the DC area; but most importantly, they could tag teami with the Intel
PL 86-36/50 USC 3605  Division analysts who, by and large, worked straight days. But they could
‘h Ipgrow the . that. . .the watch cadre by developlng more expertise on,
youkno ] & _prfilln-the
blank. So each team when it raﬁed around 6 straight days ah, would
have a project that it would wok mtensely with, the uh, wnh the Intel
Division.

Bernard: My recollection that it was[ that
DEFSMAC went from a four-feam Base fo»a Tve-!‘Eam

| Right! Right! And it was for that. for that reason..so that' we coul‘d try to
... geta .

Bernard: Yesh - Of course, the five-team one parallels the model that NSOC has
used for, as Yar as | know, since the beginning of ".of their. to...to gnve the
shift people time off. sd'to speak, to.. to brush up on some things, uh do
some personal business that might he hard to do ((aCKnowledgment))' ona
shift ((acknowledgment)) and ..and get ~‘get training and Uh just, in
effect, relax a httle bit instead of sort of always

Right! ] PL 86-36/50 USC 3605
Bernard: QQlOQ_QO_Vy?!Qb --------------------------------------
[ ] . .It probably helped to have had that earlier NSOC assignment where: |

benefited from those, uh, two weeks of of straight days

Bernard:  And at several times during the history of DEFSMAC there had been
a an attempt made to go from a four
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Um hmm.
: Bernard: Team based effort to five

Um hmm.

.:Bernard:  But the subject of the extra billets always got in the way
Yeah. Yeah.

'Bernard:  And every time it was thought that it was approved in concept, quote “We'll.
look for the billet.” It tums out :hat the billets were never found.

+ fUNNING CIFC €S aroun sSOme o erpeersw O a | :n erean ,um,

: youkno |, NSA, | felt, um, maybe took a left turn when it should have

. considered going straight or a right turn when it en€ouraged everybody

. ((chck)) to self nominate themselves for promotionls Um, everybody was
made to believe in the early stages of that transition that it was solely the

. supervisor's responsibility to get their people promoted. And while

. supervisors by and large were good naturedly -providing feedback on to
how to improve performance and enhance your promotability, if everybody
+ in your workforce followed that guidance, the competition remained just as
. it ..asit. astough as it was th2 year before. So there was ((verbal

+ pause)) a cadre within not just DEFSMAG but throughout NSA with some
: chips on their shoulder about, you know,’everybody believes that, uh,

. ((rustle; sniff)) you know, they should be fifteens or a senior executives

. And probably after seeing the most recent senior executive in DEFSMAC,
((rustle)) that gave them additional am .ammunition for that thought

. ((Acknowledgment.)) But, uh, ((click)) it was interesting watching the

. dynamics between some of these more senior, um, NSAers, in particular,
+ with the moie junior, uh, nd it really helped raise the

B A N N S L L L L LI N S S R RS RN

performance bar in, | believe, every case of the NSAers who had those,

PL 86-36/50 USC 3605 | ap chips on their shoulder anc, uh, really started to be more thorough

‘and ah, it really helped having Linda Rosko as the, then, new Chief of
Intel because she raised the bar from an accountability standpoint of
expectations for personnel at.. at certain grade levels. She insisted that,
uh, that they become briefers. Ah, she found it, ah, aimost
unconscionable that, uh, if ydu-hit the thirteen or fourteen level and you've
never briefed before, that, uh, you kivow we try to get people training,
whether it was supervisory training or briefing-skills or writing skills. But |
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credit a lot of the improvements in...in DEFSMAC to the leadership that,
uh, that Linda Rosko, uh, brou ht to the table. Interru tion attem t.

OGA

And with ah the next de

'.lYou ve meﬁUOHEd a: oouple of :he challenges ((rustle)) that faced you both
;early onand uh : .Ahi:what other sort of major challenges do you feel

:you ve you had in the Iast couple of years?

Um boy that's a that's ahand question Um, ((click))! .Letmetalk a
little bit about why | took thi .job because it's it's tied into some
c;hallenges Um, [.told Severa( people that | could have easily stayed at
DEFSMAC for the rest of my career Um, | loved the people. | loved the
mission. | mean it was...You couldnt help but get excited about every
launch that was takung place Un' :t It was a big challenge fo me even
keepmg straight, you Know, wlo wag launching an SRBM and who had
which SLBMs in their mventones and what now. Um, | can remember
inconsequential baseball. mfornatnon trom 1958, but, uh, you know, some
of the more, uh, ah, recent ((rustie)) launth, uh, specifics, ah, fortunately |
could draw on the memoneés and the expemse of of so many of our
experts there ((Chcks )) Byt when'l was in | was really
disappointed that there were ‘several . ssues that ended up being
too difficult to address, so theywerent a® ressed. And when | saw this
vacancy pop open and I, uh, had heard from Mr. Grantham actually, uh,
about the time it was opening that | should at least’keep an eye out for it.
Ancl | subsequently, ah, talkedto bout it’.as well | thought,
Well it would be an opportunity to idpeTully make a drﬁerence in lashing
FAD closer to SID so that when these real serious issues pop up it's not
so much loggerheads but it's,” you know, “Talking through-things, uh, ah,
corporately and cooperatively.” Um, ((click)) the final day to.submit an
applucatlon for the job, um, | actually started an e-mail to Mr. Grantham
and| ying, “Thanks for talking to me about the job :but I've
decided to stay in DEFSMAC. I'm passionate about the people, the
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mission, blah blah..." And | thought, “You know you don't have,” and |
won't say the word here, “If you don't roll up your sleeves again and take
on some issues that you think -eally, really, ah, at least previously, needed
to be addressed.” And...and some of those are still somewhat ((rustle))
dangling as |...as I've seen from this perch. And it was with great difficulty
that | made the decision to, ah to leave DEFSMAC Um, when |

arrived.. Actually the. .that lunchtime chat that | had with Jim Kline when
he told me | was going to be the Jhe said, “I think it's
probably the best job in the Agancy.‘* And at this point in my career, which
is, uh, ah, close to hitting 32 years here plus my three years in the Air
Force, um, | think he's . he's probably, he wAs probably aght. Um,
((smack)) you know, again, uh as the when we
visited COCOMs and you could tackle issues fiead on. Tmean there were
some contentious issues that.we had, especially with PACOM, and, uh,
you know, goihg, uh, injor the lion's den of a two-star or a three-star or a
one-star, and.. and professionally tackling these things, it was _.it. .it was
pretty.. ah a heady experience Um, and, of course, when you visit
COCOMs or you visit, uh, ah, foreign partners you know, they almost
thiow rose petals at your feet because you're the

PL 86-36/50 USC 3605

}
‘Bernard:
]

.Bernard:

4
4
L}

7.

Bernard:

OGA | -+-""-na-m-"-

wasn't what was floating my boat Again it was...it was great and .and
one of the greatest experiences in my entire life..

Should

But th|S~was~é~ch~ance yet to try to tilt at a few more windmills
((acknowledgment}) and see ifwe could knock some over.

Since your transmon to this, |ob happened relatively quickly, ((smack)) ah,
what couple of things. uh, do’yau think you might have left on your desk
that your successor oughl to ..to, ah, Iook at as sort of the first things
when

That's a..
That need to be done in the near future?

That's a. That's a great quesiion. Um, | mentioned the]; a}study
about the optimal location for DERSMAC. Um, several of us involved in
the question and answer and review- sessions of. .of the study made it
clear, frankl ifthe decision 1s made to.kee DEFSMAC here or to move it
to Denver

,um,wes ou sa ean execute. ult ere

IS some nving orce--um, | do 't know how pers'stent it will be or how
successful it will be--to move CEFSMAC to Colorade And again,
ultimately if that's what a sound, intellectually honest‘naper leads to,
everybody should salute that and and try to make it, u ah, take effect
with_..with minimal breakage. Um, | will caution—-and | knOw who

the. .who the nominee is, and assuming he makes it through {he selection

TOPL SECRETUCOMINTAK/20294443 Page 16

NSA Cent r for Cryptologic History Oral History Program OH-200741~|

Declassified and Approved for Release by NSA on 06-12-2025 pursuant to E.O. 13526, MDR Case #114604



FOPr SEGREFHGOMINFTKH20204423

process—um, that will be one of the first things | caution him to keep an
eye on to, again, just make sure that whatever paper is...is produced is
intellectually honest, talks about the ..all of the associated costs to
relocate, ah, and to beware of taking on a mission for which would change
the very nature of...of, uh, ((click)) DEFSMAC. Uh, that's .that's one

thing. | would also...Uh, I'm..]|

Bernard: Not sure | had mentioned this o you before, but when | was Director of

DEFSMAC, ah, between 1980 and ‘83, ah, t was @ i s
situation. We felt we really needed some additional

Um hmm. Um hmm.

Bernard:

PL 86-36/50 USC 3605]
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Be hard:

EO 1.4. (c)
PL 86-36/50 USC 3605

that 'thé[ tudy, which nitially inferred that it would also address
resource requirements--1 don't believe that it will-but they're waiting to see
that study before they even contemplate, ah, additional resources there.

Do you have any other thoughts on, uh, other topics or...or papers on your
desk that right need attention in the near future

((Chuckle.))Ah, you can see my in box there that, uh. ..

| mean your

Soon it will be.

Your D FSMAC desk

My Defsmac desk “Um, those. Those are the ((rustle; rub)) main one.

‘Uh, again | I consider myself extremely privileged to have served in...in
'DEFSMAC and| ou- now occasionall would look u at the hotos of all

u,u, w y
((acknowledgment)) opportunites I've had through this entire career.
Um... '

I'm not aware of all the details, but | understand that there had been a.. a
fairly robust development of what ll calla .an another DEFSMAC
modernization or FIS modernization.that would have included DEFSMAC
that isn't proceeding so well Do you'think that .

Yeah!

Will do any serious damage ((click)) ff it
Eh, it will ..

If t1sn't rectified?

available. But whether DEFSMAC moves or whether it stays put, the
corporation—| make that plural--the corporations should inve tin, ah, in
additional modernization And| don't know if we have to go completely
back to the drawing board for r, but, uh, clearly there needs to be a re-look
as to what is absolutely bare-bones, ah, necessary Because a you're
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aware, we do draw[
budget line and they were ((clccks)l |dent|f|ed as one of the down- vector
organizations in terms of, ah, ragources. And ...l can omy say ternfic
things about, ah[ L ]n support. of DEFSMAC' ssustamment ah,
during the two years. that | was there. Um, and . .and in terms of, um; his,
ah, oversight, ah; he was involved when he neededto be He was atways
helpful and-he really gave us the latitude to run the organizationina
mannet tha uh, that we felt, uh it needed to. tq thnve. :

Bernard:'_. Uh huh, ) . ,
So, | givel ]an A Plusifor for his!
support ot us. '

Bernard:  Watching and bechg involved in DEFSMAC Iiterally since'it's beginning in
1964 ((Murdock coughs)) when the...almost the only set of targets were
the Soviet Russnan targets on .on different types of missiles, then
expandmg to China and then certainly in the '‘90s and now, so many .
countroes with so many different variations and so many dufferent types of
weapons, it...obviously it made tremendously complex thelob at
DEFSMAC Do you think that that continued growth in cdmplexity 1S...iS

"gomg to continue or do you think that it's sort of peaked oyt at, uh atlthe
moment?

I I...1 think it can only continue. Um, you know, some of our allies are even
developing missiles for export And | already talked aboul the

there s some...some political considerations. We had a previous, ahf.

EO 1.4.(c)
PI, 86- 36350 usc 3605 PACOM commander who really didn't want to do anything to antagonize
— I but, who still didn’t inhibit, uh, most of the, uh, ah, request for
: upport that we got. Ah, but they had established a h h-
tin ep atuy ep nnerso mIsSsIans,

*ah, flew it on the same path, | believe, for, uh, t78e consecuwe days, ah,
.which, you know, gave the enemy a. .a really good insight into the lllgely
';pattern it would, ah, it would be flying. But be that it as it may, ah, PACOM
* utu tha, uh, that ah ht h-threat area, which inhibited our abilit to

activity last summer. o we would lecture . Ah, you know, we visited
STRATCOM, we visited PACCM, ((click)) and we said, “At nisk are future
generations of soldiers, sailors, armen and marines. ((Rustle.)) If ybu
can't help us collect this data (ichcks)) so that we can build
countermeasures to these missiles that are being designed to . to klti. ah,
you know, future generations cf service members. Um, a previous
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FEO 1.4. (c)

PL 86-36/50 USC 3605 PACOM commander even suggested, uh...And | don't know if it would . .|
:don’t believe it was the commender himself, but some of the J2 staff were
 discouraging us form collecting|

[well, I'm sorry but,
you ‘know, even President Reagan said, "Trust, but verify.” ((Bemard
chuckles )) And | believe there are things--I'm led to believe by comments
by aR, folks whose opinions | highly value—that the U.S. knows things

: about] ]

[ [Everybody is
. becoming increasingly resourcs constrained whether it's COCOMs,
-whether it's the U.S Inteligence Community and there being so many
‘trouble spots. You can’t always count on the availability of...of, ah,

continue to make that, uh, ah, he[ Job even more
difficult.

Bernard:  Alright | think we're going to Fave to break this off, ah, now. But, uh,
there is no reason that we can' later make another supplement...

Okay .Okay
 Bernard: And add to this as you, madybe think about some other items you might

want to, ((chck)) to add to the very excellent list of topics that you've
covered for us today. -

Well thank you That Again, I'm...I'm humbled at the opportunity to do
this, and, um, the that there are so many luminaries, ah, before me
that got to do it is really staggering when | stop to think about it.

urdock:  Sir, when we began this interview we classified it as TOP
SECRET//ICOMINT//TK Um, Idon’t .not sure if we covered anything in
the TK arena.’

Ah, when | talked aboutL Jim. 1...yean, 1 would leave i as Tk

Murdock: Okay The final classification of this interview will be TOP
SECREﬁCOMINTIJTK Sir, on behalf of Dick and myself and the Center
for Cryptologic H’tstory I'd like to thank you very much for shanng your
experiences.and your career with us.

Ot}:'tha,nk"you very much,
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Murdock: Thank you
XXXXXXXXXXEND OF INTERVIEW/TRANSCRIPTXXXXXXXXXX
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